

MASTER IN NEUROBIOLOGY

Alcohol intake triggers aberrant synaptic pruning and synapse loss

Joana Isabel Tedim Matos Moreira



2020

Alcohol intake triggers aberrant synaptic pruning and synapse loss

Joana Isabel Tedim Matos Moreira

Master in Neurobiology

2020

Faculdade de Medicina da Universidade do Porto (FMUP) Instituto de Investigação e Inovação em Saúde (I3S)

Supervisor: Professor Doutor João Bettencourt Relvas jrelvas@ibmc.up.pt Co-surpervisor: Doutor Renato Socodato renato.socodato@ibmc.up.pt





Agradecimentos

Agradecimentos

Tão ou mais desafiante do que escrever esta dissertação é expressar o meu agradecimento as todos os que, de diferentes formas, me acompanharam durante todo este desafio.

Em primeiro lugar não podia deixar de agradecer aos meus orientadores. Ao *Doutor João Relvas*, não só por me ter aceitado no seu laboratório mas também por ter acreditado em mim para realização deste projeto. A sua forma de pensar sempre com um pensamento "fora da caixa", sem dúvida que foi para mim um exemplo muito importante daquilo que é realmente fazer ciência. Ao *Doutor Renato Socodato* que, desde o início e ao longo de todo o trabalho, teve um papel fundamental, não só por todo o conhecimento que me transmitiu mas acima de tudo pela confiança que sempre depositou em mim e que me fez evoluir muito ao logo deste ano.

Não pode também faltar o meu agradecimento à Doutora Camila Portugal, por generosamente partilhar o seu espaço comigo e por todos os conselhos e dicas preciosas sempre com um sorriso contagiante. Tenho a agradecer à Teresinha (Teresa Canedo) por toda a disponibilidade para me acompanhar sempre que necessário, pelos ensinamentos e boa disposição. Ao Tiago por ter ajudado à minha adaptação quando cheguei ao laboratório, por me mostrar "os cantos à casa" e por estar sempre disponível e com paciência para ajudar toda a hora, foi sem dúvida essencial. À Raquel pelos bons conselhos, a todos os níveis, pelas pausas e por me ouvir quando o tico e o teco já não se entendiam. Obrigada ainda pela ajuda fundamental na reta final da entrega. Nunca pensei dizer isto, mas obrigada Pedro Melo por não teres aceitado ser meu orientador, assim não tive o peso de atrapalhar a tua vida, mas ainda assim obrigada por responderes às minhas perguntas estúpidas, pela companhia ao fim de semana e pelas pausas para o café. À *Camila Oliveira*, por ter sido a minha primeira companhia no laboratório e por ao longo de toda esta aventura ter sido a irmã mais velha com as palavras certas em todos os momentos, dentro e fora do laboratório, obrigada por tudo. Ao Artur, pelo contador automático que mudou a minha vida e por toda a ajuda. Ao Miguel Morais, por me salvar com a o "empréstimo" da placa e por se juntar a nós nas pausas. A todos os elementos do GCB pela boa disposição, pelo bom ambiente e por todas as sugestões e discussões nos labmeetings. Sem dúvida que cotribuiu e muito para o sucesso deste primeiro ano.

E porque nem só de células e ratinhos se fez este trabalho, quero também aproveitar para agradecer a quem me acompanhou fora do trabalho, e que, todos os dias me ajudaram a não perder a motivação e a dar o meu melhor sempre.

Ao meu namorado *Luís*, que ouviu todos os meus dramas e dilemas, sempre com muita paciência e com quem partilhei, diariamente, as minhas conquistas e vitórias ao longo deste

caminho. Obrigada por nunca teres duvidado de mim e do sucesso do meu trabalho, e por melhorares os meus dias com as tuas palavras de motivação e de confiança. As minhas amigas NMT (Teresa, Sofia, Joana, Mariana e Lila), acima de tudo pela amizade de uma vida, pelos bons momentos e conversas que ajudavam a distrair do trabalho e por mostrarem interesse pelo meu projeto, mesmo quando parecia chinês. À minha companheira de uma longa caminhada, *Inês*, inseparável desde o início da licenciatura, com quem partilhei todas vitórias e derrotas, com quem vivenciei alguns dos momentos mais marcantes desta longa jornada. Obrigada pela tua amizade, pela paciência, por estares sempre, incondicionalmente, disposta a ajudar sempre. À minha Lua pelas pausas para café durante o trabalho que me ajudavam a clarificar as ideias, pela partilha de ideias e experiências, sem dúvida que a tua amizade e apoio incansável foram um dos pilares que fortaleceram o meu sucesso. Às amigas que este mestrado me deu, Bárbara e Sílvia, porque vivemos juntas muitos dos altos e baixos desta jornada, porque foram um apoio tanto a nível de trabalho como pessoal, obrigada pela vossa amizade. Às pessoas mais doces que esta aventura me deu, a minha vizinha de laboratório e amiga Diana, e à minha emigra em tempo de pandemia Marília, obrigada pela vossa amizade genuína, por viveremos juntas as pequenas conquistas do dia a dia, todos os stresses desta vida de investigação.

Finalmente, e o mais importante, dedicar este trabalho aos meus pais e ao meu irmão pelo apoio incondicional, por seram o verdadeiro pilar de todas as conquistas profissionais e pessoais, ao longo de mais uma etapa importante. Obrigada por me mostratrem que tudo vale a pena e que com trabalho e dedicação corre sempre tudo bem.

Obrigada a todos sem excessão, espero que estejam orgulho

Abstract

Abstract

Alcohol use continues socially well accepted in modern society, although its abuse adversely impacts the life of millions of people worldwide. Following alcohol intake, microglia become activated, dramatically changing their transcriptomic signature and releasing pro or anti-inflammatory mediators to restore brain homeostasis. However, exacerbated or prolonged microglial activation may result in neuronal impairment caused by excessive production of proinflammatory mediators, culminating in neuronal damage.

Deficits in synaptic transmission is a common finding in human alcohol users and in animal models of alcohol intoxication. Here we used genetic ablation of Tnf and conditional ablation of microglia to assess their influence on synapses following alcohol intake. Our paradigm of moderate alcohol intake over ten consecutive days resulted in substantial loss of excitatory synapses in the prefrontal cortex, a consequence of aberrant synaptic pruning. Additionally, *in vitro* assays using a microglial cell line corroborate that alcohol exposure increase their capacity to engulf synaptic structures.

Overall, our data suggest that both TNF and microglia ablation attenuate aberrant synaptic pruning preventing excitatory synapse loss, restraining the disruption of synaptic transmission during alcohol use.

Keywords: CNS, microglia, alcohol, synaptic pruning, synapses loss

Resumo

Resumo

O consumo de álcool continua a ser socialmente bem aceite na sociedade moderna, apesar do seu consumo abusivo influenciar de forma negativa a vida de milhares de pessoas em todos o mundo. Durante o consumo de álcool, a microglia transita para um estado ativo, alterando drasticamente o seu transcriptoma e liberta mediadores pro ou anti-inflamatórios para reestabelecer a homeostasia do cérebro. No entanto, a ativação exacerbada ou prolongada da microglia pode levar ao comprometimento sinático causado pela excessiva produção de mediadores proinflamatórios, culminando em danos neuronais.

Défice na transmissão sinática é comummente encontrada em humanos que consomem álcool assim como em modelos animais de intoxicação com álcool. Neste estudo recorremos a modelos de ablação do Tnf e da microglia de modo a estudar a sua influência nas sinapses durante o consumo de álcool. O nosso paradigma de consumo moderado de álcool durante dez dias consecutivos resultou na perda substancial de sinapses excitatórias no córtex pré-frontal, como consequência da supressão aberrante de sinapses. Adicionalmente, foi feita uma análise *in vitro* usando uma linha celular de microglia pra corroborar a sua capacidade de englobar estruturas sináticas.

No geral, os nossos dados sugerem que tanto a ablação do TNF como a da microglia atenuam a aberrante supressão sinática, prevenindo a perna de sinapses excitatórias, contendo a disrupção da transmissão sinática durante o consumo de álcool.

Palavras-chave: CNS, microglia, álcool, disrupção sináptica, perda de sinapses

Table of Contents

Table of Contents

Agradecimentos	6
Abstract	. 12
Resumo	. 16
List of Figures	. 23
List of Abbreviations	. 24
1. Introduction	. 28
1.1. Alcohol	. 28
1.1.1. Alcohol addiction and Social impact	. 28
1.1.2. Alcohol-associated pathologies	. 29
1.1.3. Alcohol-induced synaptic impairment	. 30
1.2 Microglia	. 32
1.2.1. Discovery and Ontogeny	. 32
1.2.2. Brain Homeostasis – Housekeeping function	. 33
1.2.3. Adult CNS – Synaptic Plasticity	. 35
1.2.4. Microglial defense function	. 35
2. Aims	. 43
3. Methodology	. 47
3.1. Animals	. 47
3.1.1. Microglial Cell Ablation	. 47
3.1.2. TNF Knockout mice	. 48
3.1.3. SLICK-H Model	. 48
3.2. Alcohol intake protocol	. 48
3.3. Brain tissue preparation and immunohistochemistry	. 49
3.4. Confocal imaging and morphometric analysis	. 49
3.5. Flow Cytometry	. 51
3.6. Preparation of lysates	. 51
3.7. Western Blotting	. 51
3.8. Microglial cell lines	. 52
3.9. Synaptosomal preparations and microglia engulfment assay	. 52
3.10. Statistics	. 53
4. Results	. 57
4.1. Alcohol intake produces a microglia-driven neuroimmune response in the prefrontal cortex	l . 57
4.2. Microglia ablation model mice	58
4.3. Microglia as the major TNF producers in the PFC during EtOH exposure	59

4.4. TNF signaling increases microglia phagocytic activity licensing microglia	a
to prune PFC synapses following alcohol intake	60
5. Discussion	68
6. Concluding Remarks	74
References	77

List of Figures

Figure 1 - Total alcohol consumption per capita (15+ years), in liters of pure alcohol	28
Figure 2 - Microlgial release of IGF promote neuronal survival	34
Figure 3 - Microglia-mediated synaptic pruning.	34
Figure 4 - Microglia immune-related functions	35
Figure 5 - Different functional states of microglia and ontology of the cell sensome	37
Figure 6 - Self-perpetuating neurotoxicity cycle induced by exacerbated microg	lia
activation	38
Figure 7 - Alcohol intake elicits microglia activation in the prefrontal cortex	57
Figure 8 - Ablation of microlgia in Cx3cr1 ^{EYFP-CreER/+} :R26 ^{iDTR/+} mice	58
Figure 9 - TNF production elicited by alcohol intake drives microglia activation in t	the
prefrontal cortex	59
Figure 10 - Alcohol intake elicits synapse loss in a microglia-dependent manner	60
Figure 11 - Alcohol intake elicits loss in a microglia-dependent manner	61
Figure 12 - Alcohol induces synapse loss without affecting neuronal numbers	62
Figure 13 - Alcohol intake enables microglia to prune synapses.	63

List of Abbreviations

AD – Alzheimer's Disease

- AMPA α-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionate
- ATP Adenosine Triphosphate
- AUD Alcohol Use Disorder
- **BBB** Blood Brain Barrier
- **BDNF** Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor
- **BSA** Bovine Serum Albumin
- C1q Complement component 1q
- C3 Complement component 3
- CNS Central Nervous System
- CR3 Complement Receptor 3
- CT Control
- DAM Disease-associated Microglia
- DAMP Damage-associated Molecular Pattern
- DAP12 DNAX Activation Protein of 12kDa
- DGAV Direção Geral de Alimentação e Veterinária
- DMEM Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium
- DT Diphtheria Toxin
- **DTT** Dithiothretiol
- **EMPs** Erythromyeloid Percursors
- EtOH Ethanol
- EYFP Enhanced Yellow Fluorescent Protein
- FACS Fluorescence-Activated Cell Sorting
- FBS Fetal Bovine Serum
- GABA Gamma-AminoButyric Acid
- GABA R Gamma-AminoButyric Acid Receptor
- GFAP Glial Fibrillary Acidic Protein
- $H_2O\ \text{-}\ Water$
- HD Huntington's Disease
- IFN-y Interferon Gamma
- IGF-1 -- Insulin-like Growth Factor
- **IL-1** β Interleukin 1 β
- IL-6 Interleukin 6
- IL-10 Interleukin 10

- IL-12 Interleukin 12
- LTP Long Term Potentiation
- MAPK Mitogen-activated Protein Kinase
- NF-kB Nuclear Factor k B
- NLR Nucleotide-binding Oligomerization Domain-like Recaptors
- NMDA N-Methyl-D-Aspartate
- NMDA R N-Methyl-D-Aspartate Recptor
- NPCs Neural Percursor Cells
- P2RY12 P2Y Purinoreceptor 12
- PAMP Pathogen-associated Molecular Pattern
- PBS Phosphate-buffered Saline
- PD Parkinson's Disease
- $\mathbf{PFA} \mathbf{Paraformaldehyde}$
- **PRR** Pattern Recognition Receptor
- RIPA Buffer Radioimmunoprecipitation Assay Buffer
- $\mathbf{ROI} \text{Region of Interest}$
- **ROS** Reactive Oxygen Species
- $TGF-\beta$ Transforming Growth Factor β
- TLR Toll Like Receptor
- $\textbf{TNF}-\textbf{Tumor}\ \textbf{Necrosis}\ \textbf{Factor}$
- TREM2 Triggering Receptor Expressed on Myeloid Cells
- WT Wild Type
- WHO World Health Organization
- YFP Yellow Fluorescent Protein
- **YS** Yolk Sac

Chapter 1 Introduction

1. Introduction

1.1. Alcohol

1.1.1. Alcohol addiction and Social impact

For decades, alcohol consumption has been socially acceptable for recreational purposes and as a mood enhancer. Because it is an everyday dietary constituent consumed by thousands of people worldwide, society often undermines alcohol as a drug of abuse (Henriques et al., 2018). However, according to the World Health Organization (WHO), the harmful use of alcohol is responsible for 5,1% of the global disease burden, accounting for 3 million deaths per year, with the most affected group being people between 15-49 years (10% of deaths in this group). The most recent WHO data display high alcohol consumption rates per capita worldwide, with some variation between continents (**Figure 1**) (Hammer et al., 2018).



Figure 1 - Total alcohol consumption per capita (15+ years), in liters of pure alcohol. Individuals abouve 15 years of age consume on average 15.3 grams of pure alcohol per day. (Hammer et al., 2018)

Alcohol consumption has been part of many cultures for thousands of years before the moderns era (McGovern, 2009). Outside of a well-established socio-cultural context, alcohol abuse is a public health problem and social concern. The debate whether alcohol addiction is a disease or an intrinsic character flaw continues to differ opinions, despite the unmistakable existence of pieces of evidence demonstrating structural and functional alterations in the

alcoholics' brain, the likes of which dramatically change the neurobiology of the individual (Schomerus et al., 2011).

1.1.2. Alcohol-associated pathologies

Although occasional alcohol consumption might have some beneficial effect on cardiovascular diseases, the continuous consumption of alcohol, with abnormally high binge drinking levels, affects several organs morphologically and functionally, including the brain. Alcohol is a psychoactive substance with the potential to cause addiction when consumed in an abusive manner. Like many other drugs of abuse, alcohol/ethanol (EtOH) can cross the bloodbrain barrier (BBB), causing morphological and physiological changes in the Central Nervous System (CNS), especially in the brain (Banerjee, 2014). The injury degree depends on several factors such as genetics, the age of onset, the consumption pattern (regular vs. binge), and the amount per episode (heavy vs. moderate) (Abrahao et al., 2017; Lovinger, 2013).

CNS exposure to EtOH results in prolonged disturbance in brain function, closely associated with anxiety, motor dysfunction, and cognitive decline (Abrahao et al., 2017). According to WHO, the harmfulness of alcohol is present in 6% of patients in primary health care offices suffering from mental illness (Hammer et al., 2018). Nonetheless, due to its preventable nature, alcoholism has not been considered a neurodegenerative disease, although chronic heavy drinking is responsible for the majority (57%) of early-onset dementia. Fortunately, the view that alcohol abuse does not cause brain disease has been changing gradually (Hammer et al., 2018).

Besides being considered one of the primary causes of gastrointestinal, cardiovascular, and infectious diseases morbility, alcoholism-associated symptoms can give rise to Alcohol Use Disorder (AUD). AUD is a chronic relapsing brain disease characterized by compulsive alcohol use and loss of control over alcohol intake. Disproportionate alcohol consumption alters the neuronal transmission and synaptic plasticity and can cause neurodegeneration. These alterations in neuronal function are thought to be caused, at least in part, by microglia activation and resulting neuroinflammation (Marshall et al., 2016).

1.1.3. Alcohol-induced synaptic impairment

A significant hallmark of alcohol abuse is the impairment in synaptic function, which likely underlies some of the behavioral deficits observed in chronic alcohol abusers. Indeed, alcohol adversely impacts neurons due to its direct action on pre and postsynaptic terminals and secretion/recycling of neurotransmitters (Tiwari et al., 2014). Thus, alcohol directly affects the neuronal signaling, disrupting primary excitatory (glutamatergic) and inhibitory (GABAergic) brain circuits. However, the effects on each system may vary according to acute vs. chronic alcohol exposure (Lovinger, 2013).

Additionally, regarding a single EtOH consumption, the damage depends on the concentration and the amount of intake, which in the brain can fluctuate from a few millimolar (one drink) to more than 100 millimolar. As a CNS relaxant, in a range of $\geq 5 \sim 10$ mM (approximately three drinks), EtOH produces the sensation of mood elevation (so-called being "high") associated with increased disinhibition and socialization (Olsen & Liang, 2017). On the contrary, when one starts experiencing dependence due to prolonged misuse, other behavioral alterations emerge, e.g., mood disturbances, depressive-like features, and anxiety.

1.1.3.1. Alcohol effect on the GABAergic system

One of the most characterized targets of EtOH in the CNS is the GABAergic neurotransmission. The GABAergic system is part of extensive inhibitory neuronal circuits connecting different brain areas such as the cerebral cortex, the hippocampus, and the limbic system. There are three types of GABA receptors (GABA Rs): two of them are ligand-gated ion channels associated with the fast inhibitory transmission (GABA_A; GABA_C)) and the third one is a G-protein coupled receptor involved in a slower transmission (GABA_B). The neurotransmitter that activates these receptors is gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA), the major inhibitory neurotransmitter in the CNS.

Regarding the effects of alcohol on this neuronal circuit, the primary binding target is the GABA_A receptors (GABA_ARs) (Olsen & Liang, 2017). In adult GABAergic neurons, GABA_ARs are complexes composed of five subunits from several classes, each consisting of distinct isoforms (Harris, 2008). The activation of these receptors results in an influx of chloride ions (Cl⁻) along the chloride gradient, leading to the cell's hyperpolarization. EtOH is established as having a GABA-mimetic effect because alcohol interaction with GABA_ARs leads to an aberrant increase in the influx of chloride into the cell, thereby enhancing inhibitory transmission and amplifying the sedative effects of alcohol (Davies, 2003; Grobin et al., 1998; Harris, 2008). Besides, the enhancement of GABAergic transmission unexpectedly potentiates presynaptic GABA release, further inhibiting neuronal activity.

On the other hand, molecular changes associated with chronic EtOH exposure involve the internalization of GABA_ARs subtypes and altered subunit gene expression, limiting the types of receptors responsible for the transmission by changes in the conformation and the constitution of the receptor. Behavioral responses to chronic alcohol action on these receptors are highly dependent on receptor subunit composition changes (Grobin et al., 1998; Harris, 2008; Lacagnina et al., 2017; Most et al., 2014). As a result of prolonged exposure, there is a decrease in the effects of EtOH on GABA_ARs, restoring the Cl⁻ flux to below typical values, reducing the inhibitory tone of the neuron (Grobin et al., 1998; Most et al., 2014).

1.1.3.2. Alcohol effect on the Gluatamatergic system

Besides interfering with the inhibitory transmission, EtOH exposure also alters fast excitatory neurotransmission, being the glutamatergic system the primary component affected (Goodwani et al., 2017). Glutamate is the major excitatory neurotransmitter in the CNS, which, along with its receptors, has a ubiquitous distribution throughout the brain (Most et al., 2014). The glutamatergic system comprises ionotropic and metabotropic receptors, being ionotropic N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors (NMDARs), the most sensitive to alcohol exposure. NMDARs gate the flux of cations leading to fast depolarization of the neuronal membrane giving rise to excitatory neurotransmission (Möykkynen & Korpi, 2012). In general, acute exposure to EtOH inhibits all ionotropic glutamate receptors with the most prominent effect in NMDA receptors. Furthermore, during acute alcohol intake, an imbalance in glutamate release and glutamate uptake is responsible for the decreased extracellular concentration of the neurotransmitter (Goodwani et al., 2017).

Glutamatergic transmission is especially crucial in long-term potentiation (LTP) and, therefore, directly implicated in learning and memory. LTP requires robust glutamate release and is dependent on the activation/inhibition of NMDARs. Thus, the inhibition of NMDARs activity and consequent post-stimulus discharge of glutamatergic neurons suppresses LTP induction (Abrahao et al., 2017). Overall, acute EtOH effects on fast excitatory transmission are associated with cognitive impairment.

On the other hand, towards chronic intake, the inverse relationship is proven, with an improvement in the function of NMDARs. Moreover, repeated EtOH exposure elicits an alcohol-induced sensitization of the presynaptic terminal to increase glutamate release. As a result, along with NMDARs, other glutamate receptors respond to intensifying glutamatergic transmission, ending up in a hyperexcitable state – excitotoxicity (Lovinger, 2013). The

hyperstimulation of glutamatergic transmission usually contributes to withdrawal syndrome and relapse.

This detrimental effect of EtOH on both synaptic systems, highlighting an increased GABAergic inhibition accompanied with decreased glutamatergic excitability, is likely to be responsible for the behavioral changes of being "buzzed" followed by a depressive state, impaired motor coordination, and episodic memory loss.

All these changes at the synaptic level will trigger a neuroimmune response to reestablish homeostasis. Consequently, as the central player in this process, microglia may be activated, leading to either a detrimental pro-inflammatory state or a neuroprotective response.

1.2 Microglia

1.2.1. Discovery and Ontogeny

The CNS complexity has always created controversy among scientists, raising many questions about how its various components interact to keep the system's homeostasis. Historically, glial cells, named neuroglia, were described as the "glue" supporting the CNS structure (Kierdorf & Prinz, 2017). Later on, after discovering a new "third element" of the neuroglia, Pío del Rio-Hortega went further to ontogenically differentiate this newly discovered element from non-neural and non-astrocytic populations. The findings enabled the discrimination of a group of cells of mesodermal origin, apart from oligodendrocytes. Furthermore, morphological and functional data reveal these new cells' true nature by deciphering their capability of changing morphology. By this time, these cells were first label microglia by Hortega (Cherry et al., 2014).

Currently, microglia are considered the CNS resident macrophages, accounting for 5-10% of total brain cells. Indeed, microglia are the most abundant resident mononuclear phagocytes in the CNS. However, other macrophages, including meningeal, perivascular, and choroid plexus macrophages, also influence the CNS's immune response. Nevertheless, microglia are the brain's most prominent guards in the parenchyma (Herz et al., 2017).

The ontogeny of microglia was not always consensual. Microglia were primarily considered to be derived from hematopoietic progenitors entering the brain during early embryonic development. Typically, cells with hematopoietic origin are renewed throughout life from adult stem cells, except for the microglia. Microglia genesis starts with erythroid-myeloid progenitors (EMP) that develop into yolk sac (YS) macrophages (Alliot et al., 1999; Ginhoux et al., 2013; Perdiguero et al., 2015). This peculiar group with migratory capacity enters the developing neuroectoderm at embryonic day 9.5 (E9.5) in the mouse embryo – a single embryonic wave of progenitors giving rise to microglia (Kierdorf et al., 2013).

1.2.2. Brain Homeostasis – Housekeeping function

Microglia are the first line of host defense of the CNS, continually searching for pathogens, tissue damage, and infections to guarantee synaptic functionality and tissue homeostasis. Like other tissue-specific macrophages, microglia are immunosurveillant cells integrating the innate immune response, ready to react whenever the system is compromised. For many years, in the healthy, microglia brain was assumed to be in a dormant "resting" state although ready to intervene. However, *in vivo* observations, using intravital imaging rejected this theory revealing that microglia are highly dynamic cells, continuously extending and retracting their refined processes to surveil and scan the microenvironment, searching for any threat damage to the CNS parenchyma (Nimmerjahn et al., 2005). By this time, ATP was also identified as the critical chemotactic signal to the movement of microglia processes, while the cell body remains static (Davalos et al., 2005). Indeed, the findings proving microglia sensing ability were a feature of the concept of microglia "sensome" (**Figure 5**), a cluster of various proteins for recognizing and distinguish self from non-self (Hickman, 2013). For instance, the ATP receptor P2ry12 is a crucial component of the microglial "sensome" controlling microglia migration towards injuries (Haynes et al., 2006).

Allying all the microglia's functional capabilities, one can conclude that they are essential elements for CNS homeostasis both during development and adulthood.

1.2.2.1. Developing CNS - Neurogenesis and Neuronal Cell Death

Although the brain immune system regulation is the primary function of microglia, these are also responsible for many other brain-specific functions. It is during the early CNS development that microglial progenitors acquire these competencies when they contact critical factors released to the CNS microenvironment. Because of the exposure, there is an upregulation of different cell surface receptors and microglia transcriptional signatures, which is pivotal in discriminating microglia from other myeloid cells (Lavin et al., 2015; Mass et al., 2016). A vital process for brain development is neurogenesis. Simultaneously, and before the genesis of oligodendrocytes and astrocytes, myeloid precursors colonize the developing brain. In line with this, microglia are believed to perform a central role since the beginning of the CNS (Frost & Schafer, 2016; Martynoga et al., 2012). The balance between new neuronal cells' genesis and death is crucial for development without structural defects on neuronal architecture during brain development. Neurogenesis is a complex process from neural precursors to functional neurons, being microglia part of the process through the secretion of adjuvant

molecules, such as insulinlike growth factor 1 (IGF-1) for trophic support (**Figure 2**). Other trophic factors, such as brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), also secreted by microglia, are crucial to promoting neuronal survival



Figure 2 - Microlgial release of IGF promote neuronal survival

during postnatal development (Bathina & Das, 2015; Ueno et al., 2013). Moreover, microglia express two surface receptors, CX₃CR1 and DAP12, relevant to supporting neuronal wiring and establishing neuronal circuits (Squarzoni et al., 2014).

Additionally, to control neuronal cell pool, microglia *per se* can promote cell death in two ways: engulfing neural precursors cells (NPCs), contributing to the control of embryonic and adult cell pools, and producing ROS (Cunningham et al., 2013; Marín-Teva et al., 2004).

Moreover, as proficient phagocytes, microglia cooperate to eliminate apoptotic neurons in the CNS by recognizing the so-called "eat me" signals, namely phosphatidylserine (PS), disclosed by dying neurons (Ashwell, 1990; Dekkers et al., 2013) and phagocytic receptors on the microglial cell surface (e.g., BAI1, TIM4, or TREM2/DAP12 machinery) mediate this process (Hanayama et al., 2002; Liu et al., 2013; Mazaheri et al., 2014; Takahashi et al., 2005)

1.2.2.2. Developing CNS - Synaptic Pruning

Once the neural networks are established, constant remodeling is necessary to guarantee all connections' correct functioning. As brain "architects", microglia model neural circuits after sensing synaptic inputs or detect weak or desynchronized synapses. Accordingly, microglial



Figure 3 - Microglia-mediated synaptic pruning. Microglia use complement system to target and eliminate fragile synapses, resulting in decreased spine density. Adapted from

cells use essential proteins from the complement cascade, exclusive of microglia in the brain (Veerhuis et al., 2011). C3 and C1q, important complement components that localize within synapses, are recognized by complement receptor 3 (CR3), resulting in the microglia-mediated synapse engulfment (Stephan et al., 2012). This synaptic pruning is vital to improve the circuits and avoid possible supernumerary connections established during early development (**Figure 3**) (Paolicelli et al., 2011).

1.2.3. Adult CNS – Synaptic Plasticity

Synaptic strengthening, learning-mediated plasticity, and homeostasis maintenance are also dependent on microglia activity and their interaction with neurons. The most relevant microglia-neuron interaction occurs via CX₃CR1/CX₃CL1 necessary to preserve the microglia homeostatic phenotype (BACHSTETTER, 2011). Furthermore, these cells can decrease synaptic effectiveness by stimulating AMPA receptors' internalization on neurons (Zhang et al., 2014).

Overall, each microglial function is vital to preserving the CNS microenvironment under restrictive conditions and maintaining a fully functional and healthy brain throughout life. The tiniest mistake or simple change in the process might compromise homeostasis or even culminate in a pathology.

1.2.4. Microglial defense function

As stated previously, concurrently with their housekeeping functions, microglia are also known as the "guardians" of the CNS. This immune role is mediated by microglia sensome, being the central role played by pattern-recognition molecular patterns (PRRs), expressed on the cell surface, recognizing both pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) and tissue



Figure 4 - Microglia immune-related functions. The expression of different membrane receptors, microglia are able to recognize and eliminate both possible threats (left panel) and erceive signals form injured cells and repair any damage (right panel) in order to preserve homeostasis. Adapted from (Casano & Peri, 2015)

damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs). Whereas the first, namely NOD-like receptors (NLRs), co-work with Toll-like receptors (TLRs), which perceive threatening pathogens over structurally conserved molecules (e.g., lipopolysaccharides)(Olson & Miller, 2004). The removal of cell debris occurs through attractant molecules (e.g., ATP, DNA, glutamate, or Ca^{2+} signaling) delivered by injured cells, hence captivating microglia to repair the damage (Boche et al., 2013; O. Takeuchi et al., 2002).

Indeed, when certain stimuli, either pathogenic or physical trauma, are detected by sensome receptors, they trigger microglial activation. This response involves microglial morphology changes to improve motility, shifting from a ramified to an amoeboid shape (Stence et al., 2001; Torres-Platas et al., 2014; Uhlemann et al., 2016). Moreover, their activation also leads to the synthesis of a batch of cytokines, chemokines, and other molecules that depending on the stimulus will mediate a different response with distinct repercussions in neighboring cells (Block et al., 2007).

Before the current knowledge about microglia activation, this was divided into M1/M2 to differentiate a classical or alternative activation. According to this terminology, the M1 phenotype corresponds to an inflammatory phenotype, induced via triggering TLR, IFN- γ , and NF-kB signaling pathways, leading microglia to produce and release pro-inflammatory cytokines (e.g., IL-1 β , IL-6, TNF- α), glutamate, and ROS (Block et al., 2007; Orihuela et al., 2016). On the contrary, during M2 activation, microglia produce anti-inflammatory molecules (e.g., IL-10, IL-12, TGF- β) and BDNF to control inflammation and stimulate repair, therefore being a neuroprotective phenotype (Cherry et al., 2014; Varin & Gordon, 2009). Nonetheless, this categorization is considered an oversimplification of an otherwise multifaceted process. Recent transcriptomic studies and epigenetic analysis indicate that both M1 and M2 phenotypes may co-occur and vary in a region-specific manner within the CNS (Ransohoff, 2016).

Despite the possibility of a pro-inflammatory reaction, a transient microglia-mediated response is essential to eradicate the threat, whether it is a pathogen, injury repair, or dead cell debris, hence reestablishing homeostasis (Aguzzi, 2013). However, if the stimuli persist, an exacerbated or chronic activation of microglia may occur, ultimately leading to synaptic pruning and neuronal damage (Sochocka et al., 2017).


Figure 5 - Different functional states of microglia and ontology of the cell sensome. Microglia sensome (dark panel) is the basis for all their functions. From the homeostatic function in the developing and adult CNS (housekeeing and neurotrophic tasks, upper part), to immune functions, initiating an inflammatory response and playing a defensive role against potential threats (bottom part). Adapted from (Hickman et al., 2018; Kierdorf & Prinz, 2017)

1.2.4.1. Microglial and brain inflammation

The transition from an acute/transitory inflammation to chronic inflammation results from microglia overactivation, which is present in various brain disorders, namely neurodegenerative diseases. Indeed, the shifting to a chronic inflammatory state is accompanied by increased production of pro-inflammatory cytokines, chemokines, ROS, and glutamate by the CNS glial population (Block et al., 2007). Accordingly, high concentrations of these molecules in the brain lead to glutamate excitotoxicity (Barger & Basile, 2001) and ROS-mediated oxidative stress, causing neuronal damage (Harris, 2008). Furthermore, in the most severe cases, pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines are involved in BBB impairment and disruption, further worsening inflammation (Shigemoto-Mogami et al., 2018). Consequently, the neuronal damage caused by all the events inherent to chronic inflammation induces reactive microglia to produce neurotoxic factors, in turn, self-perpetuating the neurotoxicity cycle. As a result, neuronal damage may evolve into progressive degeneration (**Figure 6**).



Figure 6 - Self-perpetuating neurotoxicity cycle induced by exacerbated microglia activation. Constitutive microglia activation and neurona demage together with the accumulation of different neurotoxic factors is the main feature of chronic inflammation. When perpatuated may result in neurodegeneration. Adapted from (Block et al., 2007)

Subsequently, this harmful inflammatory response is a landmark of well-known neurodegenerative diseases, namely Alzheimer's disease (AD) (Itagaki et al., 1989), Parkinson's disease (PD) (McGeer et al., 1988), and Huntington's disease (HD) (Sapp et al., 2001). Recently, a new terminology to name microglia-mediated inflammation in pathologies was introduced, "degeneration or disease-associated microglia" (DAM) (Deczkowska et al., 2018; Keren-Shaul et al., 2017; Song & Colonna, 2018). Based on single-cell DNA sequencing, DAM merges classic genes from both M1 and M2 phenotypes related to different neurodegenerative diseases. One protein that balances activation and pro-inflammatory responses in myeloid cells is TREM2. DAM's progression was proven to be TREM2-dependent (Wang et al., 2015) and, along with morphological reorganization, genes typically expressed by homeostatic microglia (e.g., P2ry12, Tmem119, Cx3cr1) were downregulated, whereas genes implicated in phagocytic, lysosomal, and lipid metabolism were upregulated (Ajami et al., 2018; Keren-Shaul et al., 2017). Although primarily discovered in AD models, the DAM phenotype has also been observed in other mouse models for different brain pathologies (Song & Colonna, 2018).

Aims

2. Aims

As the resident immune cells of the CNS, microglia intervention in response to harmful stimuli is crucial for safeguarding brain homeostasis. However, the exacerbation or cessation of microglial response can result in the disruption of brain homeostasis. As previously referred, when activated, microglia release either pro or anti-inflammatory molecules as a response to stimuli. Therefore, TNF, as one of the most prominent factors released by microglia, is a well-positioned candidate for mediating a detrimental increase of microglia engulfment capacity following alcohol intake.

Previous studies from our laboratory revealed a potential role for TNF modulation of microglial function and synaptic impairment (Socodato, 2017). Thus, it is plausible to hypothesize that alcohol intake interferes with TNF releasing by microglia, consequently boosting their engulfment capacity.

In this thesis, we sought to address three main questions using complementary *in vivo* and *in vitro* approaches:

- 1. Does alcohol intake affect microglia reactivity?
- 2. Does the release of TNF depend on the reactivity of microglia?
- 3. Does TNF release impact microglial engulfment capacity?

Methodology

3. Methodology

3.1. Animals

All mice experiments were reviews by the i3S animal ethical committee and were approved by Direção-Geral de Alimentação e Veterinária (DGAV). All animal experiments considered the Russel and Burch 3R's principles and followed the European guidelines for animal welfare (2010/63/EU Directive). Animals were maintained in standard laboratory conditions with an inverted 12h/12h light/dark cycle and were allowed free access to food and water. The animals used were kept on a C57BL/6 background. Because of the potential behavioral variability related to females' estrous cycle, only male mice (16-20 week-old) were used in the present study. Moreover, using only one gender minimizes intergroup variability and reduced the overall number of animals used.

B6.129P2(Cg)- $Cx3cr1^{tm2.1(cre/ERT2)Litt}$ /WganJ mice (herein referred to as Cx3cr1^{EYFP-CreER/+}; The Jackson Laboratory Stock) mice were used to study brain microglia in this work. These mice express a Cre-ERT2 fusion protein and enhanced tallow fluorescent protein (EYFP) from the endogenous Cx3cr1 promoter. EYFP fluorescence is observed in more than 95% of Iba1⁺ microglia in the brain.

3.1.1. Microglial Cell Ablation

Microglial ablation mice were generated using two different mice: Cx3cr1^{EYFP-CreER/+} were intercrossed with R26^{iDTR/+} (The Jackson Laboratory) mice. Genotypes of interest (Cx3cr1^{EYFP-CreER/+} (control) and Cx3cr1^{EYFP-CreER/+}:R26^{iDTR/+} (experimental)) were determined by PCR on genomic DNA. Primers used for R26-iDTR insertion including ROSA26-forward: AAA GTC GCT CTG AGT TGT TAT; ROSA26-reverse: GCG AAG AGT TTG TCCTCA ACC; wild-type (WT) reverse: GGA GCG GGA GAA ATG GAT ATG. Primers for CreER-EYFP insertion were WT forward: AAG ACT GTG GAC CTG CT; WT reverse: AGG ATG TTG ACT TCC GAG TG and mutant reverse: CGG TTA TTC AAC TTG CAC CA. Tamoxifen was given to adult mice of both control and experimental groups (10mg/kg *per* animal) as a corn oil solution by oral gavage. Mice received two doses of tamoxifen separated by 48h between doses. For microglia ablation, eight weeks after the last tamoxifen pulse, both

groups were given diphtheria toxin (DT; 1μ g by intraperitoneal injection) for three consecutive days, and sacrifice occurred 24h after the last DT injection.

3.1.2. TNF Knockout mice

This animal model, C57BL/6.TNF knockout (referred to herein as TNK KO) was supplied by Prof. Rui Appleberg (University of Porto) and kept on a C57BL/6 background. TNF KO mice were genotyped by PCR using ATC CGC GAC GTG GAA CTG GCA GAA (forward) and CTG CCC GGA CTC CGC AAA GTC TAA (reverse) primer pair, displaying a single band of 2 kb in the PCR gel. TNF deficient mice were generated from hemizygote progenitors, and WT littermates were used as controls.

3.1.3. SLICK-H Model

Tg(Thy1-cre/ERT2,-EYFP)HGfng/PyngJ, also known as SLICK-H line and herein termed Thy1-YFP (The Jackson Laboratory) mice were maintained as before. These mice have constitutive and exclusive YFP labeling of neurons driven by endogenous Thy1 promoter. In this work, Thy1-YFP mice were used for studying the engulfment of synapses by microglia in vitro.

3.2. Alcohol intake protocol

Mice were habituated for four weeks in experimental rooms at the i3S animal facility. Afterward, mice were randomly assigned to experimental groups. To emulate a moderate alcohol intake pattern, mice were given 1.5 g/kg ethanol (diluted to 25% in sterile tissue culture-grade water) by oral gavage daily for ten consecutive days. Measurements of blood alcohol concentration in adult C57BL/6 mice show that 120 minutes after oral gavage intake, ethanol is detected above 80 mg/dl in their blood, thereby reaching amounts similar to a binge-drinking pattern of ethanol intake. Vehicle control mice were dosed with water in equal amounts to those of ethanol-treated mice. For analyses, mice were sacrificed 120 minutes after the last gavage. Animals were provided with food and water ad libitum throughout the experiments.

For in vitro studies, microglial cultures were exposed to 70 mM (320 mg/dl) ethanol. This concentration of ethanol was used because it simulates the amounts achieved in the blood during binge drinking in addition to being correlated with a dosage inducing neuronal damage.

3.3. Brain tissue preparation and immunohistochemistry

After animal perfusion with ice-cold PBS (15 ml) and fixation by perfusion with 4% PFA, brains were post-fixed by immersion in 4% PFA in PBS, pH 7.2 overnight. After that, brains were washed with PBS and then cryoprotected using sucrose gradient in a row (15% and 30%). After 24h, brains were mounted in OCT embedding medium, frozen, and cryosectioned in the CM3050S Cryostat (Leica Biosystems). Coronal sections from brains (30 µm thickness) were collected non-sequentially on Superfrost ultra plus slides. Tissue sections from controls and experimental mice encompassing identical stereological regions were collected on the same glass slide and stored at -20°C. Frozen sections were defrosted by at least 1h and hydrated with PBS for 15 minutes. Sections were permeabilized with 0.25% Triton X-100 for 15 min, washed with PBS for 10 min, and blocked in 5% bovine serum albumin (BSA), 5% fetal bovine serum (FBS), and 0.1% Triton X-100 for 1 h. Primary antibodies (ionized calcium-binding adapter molecule 1 (Iba1) (1:500, Wako, Japan); vesicular glutamate transporter 1 (VGLUT-1) (1:1000, Synaptic Systems); post-synaptic density protein 95 (PSD95) (1:600, Cell Signaling); cluster of differentiation 68 (CD68) (1:400, Bio-Rad); NeuN (1:100, Millipore)) were incubated in blocking solution in a humidified chamber overnight at 4°C. Secondary antibodies were incubated for 2 h in blocking solution. After the secondary antibody, sections were washed three times for 10 min with PBS. Slides were coverslipped using glycergel or Immumount and visualized under a Leica TCS SP5 II confocal microscope.

3.4. Confocal imaging and morphometric analysis

Images from tissue sections of the prefrontal cortex and CA1 region of the dorsal hippocampus were acquired using Leica HC PL APO Lbl. Blue 20x /0.70 IMM/CORR or a Leica HC PL APO CS 40x /1.10 CORR water objective in 8-bit sequential mode using standard TCS mode at 400 Hz and the pinhole was kept at one airy in the Leica TCS SP5 II confocal microscope. Images were resolved at 1024 x 1024 pixels format illuminated with 2-5% DPSS561 561 nm wave laser using a HyD detector in the BrightR mode, and entire Z-series were acquired from tissue sections. Equivalent stereological regions were obtained for all tissue sections within a given slide.

<u>Microglia quantification</u>: The number of YFP+ cells was manually scored in stereological identical regions of the prefrontal cortex of stained sections (6 images per section; 5 sections per animal for each experimental group).

GFAP quantification: The number of GFAP+ cells was manually scored in stereological identical regions of the prefrontal cortex of stained sections (6 images per section; 8 sections per animal for each experimental group).

<u>NeuN quantification</u>: The number of NeuN+ neurons was manually scored in stereological identical regions of the prefrontal cortex stained sections (6 images per section; 8 sections per animal for each experimental group).

<u>TNF quantification</u>: Briefly, stereological identical regions of TNF immunostained sections of the prefrontal cortex or the dorsal hippocampal CA1 area (4 images per section; 6 sections per animal for each experimental group) were

imaged, converted into 8-bit grayscale, 3D volume-rendered, and thresholded. Using FIJI software, the percent of TNF immunostained area was calculated for each field, and each section.

Quantification of synapses: Images from stereological identical prefrontal cortex or dorsal hippocampal CA1 region from each experimental group (4 images per section; 6 sections per animal for each experimental group) were acquired using a Leica HC PL APO CS 40x /1.10 CORR water objective at 1024 x 1024 pixels

resolution with 8-bit bidirectional non-sequential scanner mode at 400 Hz and pinhole at one airy in the Leica TCS SP5 II confocal microscope. Z-stacks were converted to maximum projection images using the LAS AF routine. Z-projections were background-subtracted using the rolling ball background subtraction built-in algorithm in FIJI, and then images were upsampled using a bicubic interpolation routine. The number of double-positive PSD-95/vGlut1 puncta per μm^2 was manually scored for each image.

<u>*Quantification of PSD-95 engulfment by microglia:*</u> Images from stereological identical prefrontal cortex or dorsal hippocampal CA1 region from each experimental group (6 images per section; 4 sections per animal for each experimental group) were acquired using a Leica HC PL APO CS 40x /1.10 CORR water objective at 1024 x 1024 pixels resolution with 8-bit bidirectional scanner mode at 200 Hz in the Leica TCS SP5 II confocal microscope. Using FIJI software, confocal Z stacks were background subtracted and smoothened using a Sigma filter plus. CD68, PSD-95, and Iba1 volumes were reconstructed using 3D surface rendering of confocal Z stacks in Imaris. For quantification of PSD-95 engulfment by microglia, PSD-95 puncta embedded within volume-rendered CD68+ structures in Iba1+ cells were considered to be engulfed by microglia. Unbiased measurements of PSD-95 puncta associated with CD68 were automatically performed using the Imaris co-localization package for each microglia and used for statistical analyses

3.5. Flow Cytometry

To identify the microglial population, the markers used were: CD45-PE (103106 BioLegend) and CD11b-APC (101212 BioLegend, USA). Assessment of microglial viability was done using Zombie Violet Dye (77477 BioLegend, USA) cell death marker.

Mice were anesthetized with sodium pentobarbital (0.2ml *per* 30g of mice body weight) and then perfused (transcardial perfusion) with ice-cold PBS. To obtain single-cell suspensions, neocortices were quickly dissected on ice, placed on ice-cold Gibco® RPMI 1640 (Thermo Fisher, USA), and mechanically homogenized. The obtained cell suspension was passed through a 100µm cell strainer and centrifuged over a discontinuous 70%/30% Percoll (Sigma-Aldrich, USA) gradient for 30 minutes. Cells located on the interface were collected, pelleted, resuspended in FACS buffer (2% BSA; 0.1% Sodium Azide in PBS), and then counted in a Neubauer chamber using trypan blue exclusion to estimate the number of live cells. The single-cell suspensions (1 x 10⁶ cells) were incubated with different mixes of FACS antibodies for 30 minutes at 4°C in the dark. Compensation settings were determined using spleens from wild-type mice. A FACS Canto II analyzer (BD Immunocytometry Systems, USA) was used to evaluate cell suspensions. All data were analyzed by FlowJo X10 software® (TreeStar, USA) using a sequential gating strategy.

3.6. Preparation of lysates

Cultures or mice tissues were lysed using RIPA-DTT buffer (150 mM NaCl, 50 mM Tris, 5 mM EGTA, 1% Triton X-100, 0.5% DOC, 0.1% SDS) supplemented with complete-mini protease inhibitor cocktail tablets, 1 mM DTT and phosphatase inhibitor cocktail. Samples were sonicated (6 pulses of 1 sec at 60Hz) and centrifuged at 16,000 g, 4°C for 10 min. The supernatants were collected, and the protein concentration was determined by the BCA method. All samples were denatured with sample buffer (0.5 M Tris-HCl pH 6.8, 30% glycerol, 10% SDS, 0.6 M DTT, 0.02% bromophenol blue) at 95°C for 5 min and stored at -20°C until use.

3.7. Western Blotting

Samples were separated by SDS-PAGE electrophoresis in a 12% SDS-page gel with a voltage of 120V (adjustments overtime were done). Precision Plus Protein[™] Dual Color Standards (1610374; Bio-Rad) was used as a molecular weight marker. Proteins were transferred from gel to the Immun-Blot® PVDF membrane (Bio-Rad) using a Trans-Blot® Turbo[™] Transfer System (Bio-Rad). The transference was performed for 10 minutes in diluted Trans-Blot® Turbo[™] 5X Transfer Buffer (20% buffer, 20% ethanol, and 60% ultrapure H₂O).

Membranes were blocked for 60 minutes in a blocking solution composed of 5% skimmed milk diluted in tris based saline with 0.1% Tween (TBS-T) pH 7.6 and incubated with the primary antibodies Anti-Iba1 (1:1000; Wako), Anti-GAPDH (1:20000; HyTest Ldt.), Anti-PDS95 (1:2000; Thermo Fisher), Anti-vGlut1 (1:1000; Synaptic Systems) diluted in blocking solution overnight at 4°C. Membranes were then washed three times, for 10 minutes each, with TBS-T and incubated with peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibodies: HRC conjugated anti-rabbit (1:10000; Promega) and HRC conjugated anti-mouse (1:15000; Promega). Membranes were developed using a Pierce[™] ECL Fast Western Kit (Thermo Fisher) and revealed using ChemiDoc[™] XRS System (Bio-Rad). Images were finally quantified and processed by FIJI Software®.

3.8. Microglial cell lines

Human microglia clone 3 (HMC3) cell line was obtained through SV40-dependent immortalization of human embryonic microglial cells and authenticated by the American Type Culture Collection (ATCC® CRL-3304TM) (Janabi et al., 1995). These cells were cultivated with DMEM + GlutaMAXTM-I (supplemented with 10% FBS and 1% Penicillin/Streptomycin) and maintained at 37°C, 95% air and 5% CO2 in a humidified incubator.

3.9. Synaptosomal preparations and microglia engulfment assay

To isolate prefrontal cortex synaptic terminals, synaptosomes were freshly prepared using Syn-PERTM Synaptic Protein Extraction Reagent (catalog no. 87793, ThermoFisher Scientific) precisely as recommended by the manufacturer. Briefly, WT mice or Thy1-YFP were euthanized in a CO2 chamber. Their prefrontal cortex was collected, and homogenization was performed using a Dounce tissue grinder (~10 strokes). The homogenate was centrifuged at 1200 x g for 10 min, and the pellet was discarded. The supernatant was centrifuged at 15000 x g for 20 min. The resulting supernatant was discarded, and the synaptosomal pellet was resuspended in Syn-PerTM Synaptic Protein Extraction Reagent.

CHME3 microglial cultures were seeded in 12-well culture plates at a density of 2.5 x 104 cells/well in DMEM GlutaMAXTM-I supplemented with 10% FBS, 0.1% PenStrep and cultivated for 48 h. Cultures were treated with an FcgR blocking solution (1:100) for 20 min and then refed with fresh medium containing vehicle (water), or EtOH (70 mM), or adalimumab (5 μ g/ml) plus EtOH (70 mM). Cells were kept in those conditions for 24 h. Afterward, cells were refed with fresh medium containing vehicle (water) plus synaptosomes (1:100), or EtOH (70 mM) plus synaptosomes (1:100), or adalimumab (5 μ g/ml)

plus synaptosomes (1:100), or adalimumab (5 μ g/ml) plus EtOH (70 mM) plus synaptosomes (1:100). Cells were cultured under these conditions for an additional 24 h. For analyses, microglial cultures were washed extensively with PBS and either fixed with PFA 4%, immunolabeled for PSD-95 and analyzed in a fluorescence microscope or detached using accutase solution (catalog no. A6964, Sigma), blocked in PBS-BSA 5%, fixed with PFA 2%, resuspended in PBS-BSA 1% and analyzed in a flow cytometer.

3.10. Statistics

A 95% confidence interval was used for statistical evaluation, and p < 0.05 was considered a statistically significant difference in all sampled groups. Experimental units in individual replicates were prior evaluated for Gaussian distribution using the D'Agostino & Pearson omnibus normality test with GraphPad Prism. When comparing only two experimental groups Mann-Whitney test for data with non-normal distribution or unpaired Student t-test with equal variance assumption for data with normal distribution was used.

When comparing treatment effects within genotypes/mutants, Two-way ANOVA followed by the Sidak's multiple comparisons test was used. Two-way ANOVA was also used to compare values of microglia intersections retrieved from Sholl analysis. All quantifications were performed blinded.

Results

4. Results

4.1. Alcohol intake produces a microglia-driven neuroimmune response in the prefrontal cortex

In mice models of alcohol intoxication, alcohol intake leads to microglia activation and oxidative damage (Qin & Crews, 2012). We sought to study the effect of alcohol intake on microglia reactivity and used an EtOH exposure protocol simulating moderate alcohol intake. For this, we administered 1.5 g/kg of EtOH or water (H₂O) for ten consecutive days to a microglia reporter (Cx3cr1^{EYFP-CreER/+} (Parkhurst et al., 2013)) mouse (**Figure 7A**).



Figure 7 - Alcohol intake elicits microglia activation in the prefrontal cortex. Schematic representation of the regimen of repetitive binge.level alcohol (EtOH) intake to adult $Cx3cr1^{EYFP-CreER/+}$ mice. Mice were given EtOH (1.5 g/kg) or water (H₂O; control) by oral gavage dor 10 consecutive days (**A**). Histological confocal analysis of microglia (immunostained against YFP) on tissue sections from prefontal cortices of $Cx3cr1^{EYFP-CreER/+}$ mice exposed to EtOH or H₂O. Asterisks indicate the microglial cell body. Scale bar, 50 µm. Data are means ± SEM from six mice per condition pooled across thress independent experiments. **P*<0.05 by Mann-Whitney test (**B**). Flow cytimetry analysis of microglia numbers in neocortices of $Cx3cr1^{EYFP-CreER/+}$ mice exposed to EtOH and H₂O. Microglia were identified as being CD11b⁺ and Cd45^{low/mid} gated from the double-positive CD11b⁺ YFP⁺ population. Data are means ± SEM from eight (H₂O) and nine (EtOH) mice pooled across three independent experiments. **P*<0.05 by Mann-Whitney test (**C**). Western blot for Iba1 on lysates from prefrontal cortices of $Cx3cr1^{EYFP-CreER/+}$ mice exposed to EtOH or H₂O. GAPDH (loading control). Data are means ± SEM from six mice per condition pooled across three independent experiments. **P*<0.05 by Mann-Whitney test (**D**).

Immunohistochemistry on prefrontal (PFC) cortex tissue sections from Cx3cr1^{EYFP-CreER/+} revealed that this EtOH exposure protocol induced a significant expansion of PFC microglia (YFP⁺ cells, **Figure 7B**). Using flow cytometry, we confirmed this increased microglia number in Cx3cr1^{EYFP-CreER/+} mice exposed to EtOH (**Figure 7C**). EtOH also increased the expansion of the reactivity markers CD45, integrin alpha M (CD11b), and Iba1 in PFC (**Figure 7D**)

4.2. Microglia ablation model mice

Microglia are the most important producers of TNF after acute binge alcohol intake (23). To test whether microglia were also major TNF producers during our alcohol exposure protocol, we genetically ablated microglia using the microglia iDTR/Cre-lox system (Parkhurst et al., 2013). For this purpose, we used an experimental set up where mice expressing both EYFP and tamoxifen-inducible Cre recombinase (Cre^{ER}) under the endogenous regulation of Cx3cr1 promoter (Cx3cr1^{EYFP-CreER/+}) are crossed with mice expressing R26, a locus used for constitutive and ubiquitous gene expression in mice and inducible diphtheria Toxin receptor (iDTR) (R26^{iDTR}). We first validated the efficiency of this microglia ablation system in the context of our experimental requirements by giving tamoxifen to Cx3cr1^{EYFP-CreER/+} and Cx3cr1^{EYFP-CreER/+}:R26^{iDTR/+} mice at P28 and P30 and DT 2 months later (**Figure 8A**). Indeed, both immunohistochemistry on PFC tissue sections and flow cytometry showed, as expected, that microglia were efficiently eliminated in Cx3cr1^{EYFP-CreER/+}:R26^{iDTR/+} mice. (**Figures 8B and 8C, respectively**).



Figure 8 - Ablation of microlgia in Cx3cr1^{EYFP-CreER/+}:R26^{iDTR/+} mice. Schematic representation of tamoxifeninducible microglial ablation in the brain from postnatal day 28 (P28). Tamox, tamoxife; DT, depthteria toxin (A). Histological confocal analysis for Iba1 on tissue sections from prefrontal cortices of Cx3cr1^{EYFP-CreER/+} and Cx3cr1^{EYFP-CreER/+}:R26^{iDTR/+} after exposure to DT (n = 4 animals per genotype). Scale bar, 50 µm (B). Flow cytometry analysis of microglial numbers in neocortices of Cx3cr1^{EYFP-CreER/+} and Cx3cr1^{EYFP-CreER/+} and Cx3cr1^{EYFP-CreER/+} after exposure to DT. Data are means \pm SEM from six mice per condition pooled across three independent experiments. **P*<0.05 by Mann-Whitney test (C).

4.3. Microglia as the major TNF producers in the PFC during EtOH exposure

After validating the brain's microglia ablation model, we evaluated TNF production in the PFC of $Cx3cr1^{EYFP-CreER/+}$ and microglia-depleted mice $(Cx3cr1^{EYFP-CreER/+}:R26^{iDTR/+})$ following EtOH exposure (**Figure 9A**). Whereas EtOH significantly increased the protein amounts of TNF in $Cx3cr1^{EYFP-CreER/+}$ mice (**Figure 9B**), it did not increase TNF amounts in microglia-depleted mice (**Figure 9B**), suggesting that microglia are the primary producers of TNF in the PFC during EtOH exposure.



Figure 9 - **TNF** production elicited by alcohol intake drives microglia activation in the prefrontal cortex. Schematic representation of microglial ablation during EtOH exposure (**A**). Histological confocal analysis for TNF on tissue sections from prefrontal cortices of $Cx3cr1^{EYFP-CreER/+}$ and $Cx3cr1^{EYFP-CreER/+}$:R26^{iDTR/+} after microglia ablation during exposure to EtOH or H₂O. Scale bar, 100 µm. Data are means ± SEM from five mice per condition pooled across three independent experiments. *P<0.05 by two-way ANOVA with Sidak's multiple comparisons (**B**).

4.4. TNF signaling increases microglia phagocytic activity licensing microglia to prune PFC synapses following alcohol intake

Alcohol binge drinking is responsible for commonly cause behavioral alterations, such as increased anxiety, which can be caused by perturbations in excitatory/inhibitory balance in PFC circuits (Froemke, 2015; Tatti et al., 2017). EtOH-elicited microglia activation could alter excitatory synapses in the PFC. The work here presented shows that the amounts of PSD-95 and vGlut1 (major proteins involved in excitatory transmission) along with the number of excitatory synapses (PSD-95⁺/vGlut1⁺ puncta) were significantly decreased in PFCs of ice exposed to EtOH (**Figure 10**).



Figure 10 - Alcohol intake elicits synapse loss in a microglia-dependent manner. Representative raw and background-subtracted confocal images of PSD-95 (red) and vGlut1 (green) staining on tissue sections from prefrontal cortices of WT and TNF KO mice (genotypes are shown in the boxes) exposed to EtOH or H₂O. Scale bar 10 μ m. White squares are the ROIs expanded on the right column. Scale bar 5 μ m. Data are means ± SEM from at least six mice per condition pooled across three independent experiments. *****P*<0.0001 and ****P*<0.001 by two-way ANOVA with Sidak's multiple comparisons.

On the other hand, this decrease of PDS-95 and vGlut puncta and PSD-95⁺/vGlut1⁺ synapses induced by alcohol intake was prevented entirely in TNF KO mice (**Figure 10**) and microglia-depleted mice (**Figure 11A**).



Figure 11 - Alcohol intake elicits loss in a microglia-dependent manner. Representative raw and background-subtracted confocal images of PSD-95 (red) and vGlut1 (green) staining on tissue sections from prefrontal cortices of $Cx3cr1^{EYFP-CreER/+}$ and $Cx3cr1^{EYFP-CreER/+}$ and $Cx3cr1^{EYFP-CreER/+}$. Representative raw and background-subtracted confocal images of PSD-95 (red) and vGlut1 (green) staining on tissue sections from prefrontal cortices of $Cx3cr1^{EYFP-CreER/+}$ and $Cx3cr1^{EYFP-CreER/+}$. Representative raw and background-subtracted confocal images of PSD-95 (red) and vGlut1 (green) staining on tissue sections from prefrontal cortices of $Cx3cr1^{EYFP-CreER/+}$ mice (genotypes are shown in the boxes) exposed to EtOH or H₂O. Scale bar 10 μ m. White squares are the ROIs expanded on the right column. Scale bar 5 μ m. Data are means ± SEM from at least six mice per condition pooled across three independent experiments. *****P*<0.0001 and ****P*<0.001 by two-way ANOVA with Sidak's multiple comparisons (**A**). Western blot analysis for PSD-95 and vGlut1 on lysates from prefrontal cortices of $Cx3cr1^{EYFP-CreER/+}$ and $Cx3cr1^{EYFP-CreER/+}$:R26^{iDTR/+} mice after microglia ablation during exposure to EtOH and H₂O. GAPDH (loading control). Data are means ± SEM from five micer per condition pooled across three independent experiments. **P*<0.05 by two-way ANOVA with Sidak's multiple comparisons (**B**).

As a complement, a biochemical assessment confirmed that EtOH intake decreased, in a microglia-dependent manner, the amounts of PSD-95 and vGlut1 in the PFC (**Figure 11B**), indicating that TNF production by microglia results in loss of excitatory synapses in the PFC following alcohol intake.

However, the loss of synapses can also be a consequence of increases in neuronal death. Therefore, an histological analysis was performed, showing that the number of neurons (stained with NeuN) in PFC was not significantly different when comparing EtOH-subjected and watertreated mice (**Figure 12**).



Figure 12 - Alcohol induces synapse loss without affecting neuronal numbers. Histological confocal analysis of NeuN on tissue sections from prefrontal cortices of $Cx3cr1^{EYFP-CreER/+}$ mice exposed to EtOH or H₂O (n = 5 mice per condition). Graph (mean and SEM) shows the number of NeuN⁺ cells. Statistical comparation was performed using Mann-Whitney test. Scale bar: 50 µm

In pathologies, such as in Alzheimer's disease, microglia can phagocytose and prune healthy synapses, a process named synaptophagy (Vilalta & Brown, 2018). Accordingly, it was hypothesized that the EtOH-mediated loss of excitatory synapses in the PFC could be a direct consequence of excessive engulfment of synaptic structures by microglia. To investigate whether microglia exposed to EtOH engulfed more synapses in vivo, the amount of PDS-95⁺ puncta within phagocytic structures (labeled with CD68) in Iba1⁺ microglia was evaluated by immunofluorescence on PFC tissue sections. Confocal imaging coupled with 3D cell surface rendering revealed that Iba1⁺ microglia from the PFC of mice exposed to alcohol contained significantly more PSD-95⁺ puncta colocalizing with CD68 structures than PFC microglia from mice treated with water (**Figure 13A**).



Figure 13 - Alcohol intake enables microglia to prune synapses. Representative Imaris 3D surface rendering of confocal maximum projection images showing volume reconstruction of PSD-95 within CD68 structures in microglia (Iba1⁺ cell) on tissue sections from prefrontal cortices of WT and TNF KO mice after exposure to EtOH or H₂O. Scale bar: 5 μ m. Data are means ± SEM from 12 microglia per condition derived from four mice pooled across three independent experiments. **P*<0.05 by two-way ANOVA with Sidak's multiple comparisons (**A**). Imunnofluorescence images of PSD-95 labeled prefrontal cortex synaptosomes (red) inside cultured CHME3 microglia labeled with CellMask bye (blue). Scale bar, 20 μ m. Data are means ± SEM from 62 cells per condition from three independent experiments. **P*<0.05 by unpaired *t* test (**B**). Representative flow cytometry profiles for YFP labeling in CHME3 microglia incubated for 24 hours with synaptosomes isolated from the prefrontal cortex of Thy1-YFP mice. In somes conditions, microglia cultures were pretreated for 24 hours with EtOH (70 mM) or with TNF blocking antibody adalimumab (5 μ g/ml). Engulfment ability of microglia was caculated by comparing the percentage (left graph) or the normalized MFIs (right graoh) of microglia expressing high YFP signa. Data are means ± SEM from six independent experiments per condition. **P*<0.05 by two-way ANOVA with Sidak's multiple comparison (**C**). Flow cytometry analysis of CD68 expression in microglia (gated as CD45^{mid}CD11b⁺ cell population) from prefrontal cortices of CX3cr1^{EYFP-CreER/+} mice exposed to EtOH or H₂O. Data are means ± SEM from five mice per condition pooled across three independent experiments. **P*<0.05 by two-way ANOVA with Sidak's multiple comparisons (**D**).

This microglial engulfment of PFC postsynaptic components required TNF signaling since no significant differences in the engulfment of PSD-95⁺ puncta were observed in the TNF KO mice exposed to EtOH. (Figure 13A).

To further assess synapses' engulfment by microglia, synaptosomes (to isolate synaptic terminals) from the PFC of adult mice were prepared, and microglial cultures were incubated with them. Indeed, immunofluorescence labeling of PSD-95 confirmed that microglia efficiently engulfed synaptosomes prepared from the PFC, further confirming that microglia actively phagocytose synapses in steady-state conditions. Moreover, cultured microglia exposed to EtOH engulfed significantly more PFC synaptosomes than control microglia. (**Figure 13B**). To further corroborate the excessive EtOH-mediated engulfment of synaptic structures, microglia cultures were incubated with synaptosomes prepared from the PFC of the Thy1-YFP ice. Measuring microglia engulfment capacity by flow cytometry revealed that microglia exposed to alcohol displayed significantly increased engulfment of YFP⁺ synaptosomes elicited by EtOH exposure (**Figure 13C**).

In line with the view that EtOH intake increases microglia engulfment capacity, mice exposed to EtOH displayed a TNF-dependent increase of PFC microglia expressing the phagocytic marker CD68 (Figure 13D).

Discussion

5. Discussion

Neuroinflammation is regarded as a major contributing factor in alcohol-induced brain damage (Kane & Drew, 2016; M. Pascual, J. Montesinos, M. Marcos, J.-L. Torres, P. Costa-Alba, F. García-García & Guerri, 2017; Montesinos et al., 2016). Nevertheless, the mechanisms underlying these effects remain uncertain. Although various studies show that alcohol exposure induces microglia activation (Fernandez-Lizarbe et al., 2009), here we demonstrated increased microglial reactivity upon an alcohol exposure protocol simutaling binge drinking, which differ from studies with binge with heavy alcohol intake (Lippai, Bala, Csak, et al., 2013; Lippai, Bala, Petrasek, et al., 2013b).

Microglia activation promote the production of ROS (Nadka I. Boyadjieva and Dipak K. Sarkar, 2018; Qin & Crews, 2012) and consequent oxidative stress. Indeed, microglia activation following acohol intake is typically defined as a proinflammatory response with the release of proinflammatory mediators (mainly TNF), inducing these cells to acquire a neurotoxic profile. In line with that, although our microglia ablation experiments demonstrated that microglia were the major producers of TNF in the prefrontal cortex during alcohol exposure, we cannot exclude that TNF produced in the periphery (namely by Kupffer cells, known as the most representative myeloid cells in the liver and the major producers of cytokines in case of Alcoholic Liver Disease (ALD) (Cubero & Nieto, 2006; Suraweera, 2015)) has reached the brain and also impacted the activation of microglia. Besides, even astrocytes in response to alcohol may also have contributed to the observed microglial phenotype, although we further assessed that in our paradigm of alcohol exposure and found no overt astrocytic reactivity in the prefrontal cortex. TNF, as an inflammatory cytokine, can indirectly promote neurotoxicity by stimulating microglia in an autocrine/paracrine manner (H. Takeuchi & Suzumura, 2014). Moreover, this autocrine activation of TNF receptors triggers the release of glutamate by microglia, causing excitotoxicity, hence demaging neurons (Pickering et al., 2008; H. Takeuchi et al., 2006). After assessing whether the release of TNF was microglia-dependent, we asked whether the TNF release impacted microglial activity and engulfment capacity. Our in vivo experiments using TNF deficient mice were important to demosntrate that this cytokine indeed modulated the alcohol effects in the prefrontal cortex.

In this context, the prefrontal cortex contains glutamatergic neurons that synapse locally or project distally to cortical and subcortical nuclei. Therefore, any failure in setting up and sustaining proper excitatory connectivity leads to imbalanced neuronal activity across networks (Haider et al., 2006), possibly explaining at least some of the behavioral impairments found in various neurologic disorders (Li et al., 2013). Accordingly, the loss of prefrontal cortex excitatory synases elicited by alcohol could be sufficient to disrupt the excitatory/inhibitory balance of prefrontal cortex neurons projecting to anxiety-related centers in subcortical regions,

implying that alcohol-induced prefrontal cortex synapse loss might have directly impacted the alcohol-related anxiety-like behavior. Although it is plausible that the microglia-driven synaptic changes in the prefrontal cortex could be causing anxiety-like changes, our data do not formally exclude the possibility that microglia could be directly activated in other brain regions associated to anxiety, such as the amygdala, eliciting the anxiogenic effect of alcohol.

Microglia participate in synaptic remodeling by phagocytic engulfment of synaptic terminals (Weinhard et al., 2018). We found that alcohol exposure increased the engulfment of synaptic structures by microglia likely due to enhancing their phagocytic capacity. On the contrary, alcohol decreases microglia phagocytosis of E. coli (Aroor & Baker, 1998) and of amyloid (Gofman, 2014) and also suppresses microglia phagocytosis stimulated by activation of P2X4 receptors (Kalinin et al., 2018), thereby suggesting that alcohol might alter microglia phagocytic capacity in a context-specific manner. Additionally, microglia clearance activity varies significantly across different brain regions (paper da Ayata and Schaffer na Nat Neurosci.). However, microglia clearance activity may be different depending on the brain reagion, being conseivable that prefrontal crotex microglia were more prone to engulf and prune synapses than their hippocampal counterparts upon exposure to alcohol. Reagrding this, identifying the precise mechanisms underlying microglial regional differences warrant future in depth studies focusing on the characterization of microglia heterogeneity.

The phagocytic engulfment of healthy synapses by microglia can result in synapse loss in the brain (Vilalta & Brown, 2018), and in Alzheimer's disease it can contribute to early disease pathology (Karabiyik et al., 2018). The fact that EtOH licensed microglia to prune prefrontal cortex sunapses in the absence of significant alterations in the number of neurons in the prefrontal cortex also suggests that aberrant synaptic pruning by microglia might be an early hallmark asociated with neurotoxicity during alcohol abuse. This milestone might be important for early detection and possibly prevention of long-term neuronal loss and synaptic dysfunction between different brain regions exposed to alcohol.

Furthermore, by feeding cultured microglia with synaptosomes, we reinforced the increased engulfment capacity of these cells during alcohol exposure. In vivo, using triple staining to label phagocytic stuctures in prefrontal cortex tissue sections, we also demonstrated that microglia exposed to EtOH engulfed more prefrontal crotex postsynaptic elements, which provides important new mechanistics evidence into how the brain immune system might contribute to the impairment of synaptic transmission, a major detrimental consequence of alcohol abuse. Thus, our study opens new possibilities to clarify and further investigate new mechanisms underlying synaptic pruning, from which possible therapeutic targets and preventive strategies may arise for alcohol abuse-induced brain damage.

A caveat of the present study is that the observed phenotypes were only reported for male mice. Sex differences underlie substantial transcriptional differences between female and male microglia (Villa et al., 2018), which together with the fact that female microglia are more prone to develop alcohol-related inflammation and neuronal damage (Alfonso-Loeches et al., 2013; M. Pascual, 2017), indicate that further studies using female mice are required to understand better the contribution of EtOH exposure to microglia-dependent synaptic pruning and synapse function.

Microglia-mediated neurotoxicity damages the CNS parenchyma (Kempermann & Neumann, 2003) during alcohol abuse and neurologic diseases. Therefore, inhibition of microglial activation has been considered as a putative therapeutic approach to manage neuropathologies. Notwithstanding, microglia are also known for their neuroprotective functions, through the release of neurotrophic factors, clearance of neurotoxic substances and cell debris, and excess glutamate uptake (Kempermann & Neumann, 2003; Kipnis et al., 2004; Schwab & Schluesener, 2004). Although challenging, to be a viable therapeutic strategy, only the detrimental effects of microglia activation should be targeted, without compromising their beneficial functions.

Concluding Remarks
6. Concluding Remarks

As suggested by the main title, this work aimed at shedding light into some of the mechanisms under the aberrant synaptic pruning by microglia following alcohol intake. The association of two well established *in vivo* models of microglia ablation and TNF sustain, to accurate assess alcohol-elicited influence under both microglial reactivity and TNF expression, respectively. Additionally, the same models with the association of an *in vitro* analysis, allowed the evaluation of the engulfment capacity of microglial cells. Accordingly, in the course of this work, different hypothesis were progressively tested, with our results retrieving the following main conclusions:

- 1. Moderate ethanol exposure does increase microglia number and reactivity.
- 2. TNF expression increases following ethanol exposure.
- 3. TNF increased expression is microglai-dependent.
- 4. Our ethanol exposure paradigm induces synapse loss without affecting neuronal numbers.
- 5. Alcohol intake enable microglia to prune synapses.

Overall, alcohol intake enable active microglia to prune synapses.

To the best of our knowledge, this study is pioneer in demonstrating specific microglia engulfment capacity following alcohol misuse, considering that our data pointed out some mechanistic features involved in the immune response involved in synapse loss. Our study further demonstrates clear and robust data showing microglia feeding itself with postsynaptic structures from excitatory synapses. However, a more in-depth analysis of mechanisms underlying synapse prune which remain to be determined. Moreover, this study is focus only on excitatory synapses, so a similar analysis investigating changes in inhibitory synapses would be a great addition in the future. A step further on alcohol influce on neuroimmune response and more realistic in term of future clinical approach would be an in depth-study of a chronic module of alcohol intake along with complement simutation of prolonged withdrawal.

The experiments I performed for this work were included in a scientific paper recently published on Science Signaling.

Title: Daily alcohol intake triggers aberrant synaptic pruning leading to synapse loss and anxiety-like behavior

1st author: Renato Socodato

Manuscript number: 10.1126/scisignal.aba5754

References

References

- Abrahao, K. P., Salinas, A. G., & Lovinger, D. M. (2017). Alcohol and the Brain: Neuronal Molecular Targets, Synapses, and Circuits. 96(6), 1223–1238. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2017.10.032.Alcohol
- Aguzzi. (2013). *Microglia: scapegoat, saboteur, or something else. 339*(6116), 156–161. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1227901.Microglia
- Ajami, B., Samusik, N., Wieghofer, P., Ho, P. P., Crotti, A., Bjornson, Z., Prinz, M., Fantl, W. J., Nolan, G. P., & Steinman, L. (2018). Single-cell mass cytometry reveals distinct populations of brain myeloid cells in mouse neuroinflammation and neurodegeneration models. *Nature Neuroscience*, *21*(4), 541–551. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41593-018-0100-x
- Alfonso-Loeches, S., Pascual, M., & Guerri, C. (2013). Gender differences in alcohol-induced neurotoxicity and brain damage. *Toxicology*, 311(1), 27–34. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tox.2013.03.001
- Alliot, F., Godin, I., & Pessac, B. (1999). Microglia derive from progenitors, originating from the yolk sac, and which proliferate in the brain. *Developmental Brain Research*, 117(2), 145–152. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0165-3806(99)00113-3
- Aroor, A. R., & Baker, R. C. (1998). Ethanol Inhibition of Phagocytosis and Superoxide Anion Production by Microglia. *Alcohol*, 15(4), 277–280. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0741-8329(97)00129-8
- Ashwell, K. (1990). Microglia and cell death in the developing mouse cerebellum. *Developmental Brain Research*, 55(2), 219–230. https://doi.org/10.1016/0165-3806(90)90203-B
- BACHSTETTER, A. (2011). Fractalkine and CX 3 CR1 regulate hippocampal neurogenesis in adult and aged rats. *Bone*, 23(1), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1038/jid.2014.371
- Banerjee, N. (2014). Neurotransmitters in alcoholism: A review of neurobiological and genetic studies. *Indian Journal of Human Genetics*, 20(1), 20–31. https://doi.org/10.4103/0971-6866.132750
- Barger, S. W., & Basile, A. S. (2001). Activation of microglia by secreted amyloid precursor protein evokes release of glutamate by cystine exchange and attenuates synaptic function. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 76(3), 846–854. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1471-4159.2001.00075.x
- Bathina, S., & Das, U. N. (2015). Brain-derived neurotrophic factor and its clinical Implications. Archives of Medical Science, 11(6), 1164–1178. https://doi.org/10.5114/aoms.2015.56342

Block, M. L., Zecca, L., & Hong, J. S. (2007). Microglia-mediated neurotoxicity: Uncovering

the molecular mechanisms. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 8(1), 57–69. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn2038

- Boche, D., Perry, V. H., & Nicoll, J. A. R. (2013). Review: Activation patterns of microglia and their identification in the human brain. *Neuropathology and Applied Neurobiology*, 39(1), 3–18. https://doi.org/10.1111/nan.12011
- Casano, A. M., & Peri, F. (2015). Microglia: Multitasking specialists of the brain. *Developmental Cell*, 32(4), 469–477. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.devcel.2015.01.018
- Cherry, J. D., Olschowka, J. A., & O'Banion, M. K. (2014). Neuroinflammation and M2 microglia: The good, the bad, and the inflamed. *Journal of Neuroinflammation*, 11(1), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1186/1742-2094-11-98
- Cubero, F. J., & Nieto, N. (2006). Kupffer cells and alcoholic liver disease. *Revista Española de Enfermedades Digestivas*, 98(6), 460–472. https://doi.org/10.4321/s1130-01082006000600007
- Cunningham, C. L., Martínez-Cerdeño, V., & Noctor, S. C. (2013). Microglia regulate the number of neural precursor cells in the developing cerebral cortex. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 33(10), 4216–4233. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3441-12.2013
- Davalos, D., Grutzendler, J., Yang, G., Kim, J. V., Zuo, Y., Jung, S., Littman, D. R., Dustin, M. L., & Gan, W. B. (2005). ATP mediates rapid microglial response to local brain injury in vivo. *Nature Neuroscience*, 8(6), 752–758. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn1472
- Davies, M. (2003). The role of GABAA receptors in mediating the effects of alcohol in the central nervous system. *Journal of Psychiatry and Neuroscience*, *28*(4), 263–274.
- Deczkowska, A., Keren-Shaul, H., Weiner, A., Colonna, M., Schwartz, M., & Amit, I. (2018). Disease-Associated Microglia: A Universal Immune Sensor of Neurodegeneration. *Cell*, 173(5), 1073–1081. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2018.05.003
- Dekkers, M. P. J., Nikoletopoulou, V., & Barde, Y. A. (2013). Death of developing neurons: New insights and implications for connectivity. *Journal of Cell Biology*, 203(3), 385– 393. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.201306136
- Fernandez-Lizarbe, S., Pascual, M., & Guerri, C. (2009). Critical Role of TLR4 Response in the Activation of Microglia Induced by Ethanol. *The Journal of Immunology*, 183(7), 4733–4744. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.0803590
- Froemke, R. C. (2015). Plasticity of cortical excitatory-inhibitory balance. *Physiology & Behavior*, 176(1), 139–148. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-neuro-071714-034002.Plasticity
- Frost, J. L., & Schafer, D. P. (2016). Microglia: Architects of the Developing Nervous System. *Trends in Cell Biology*, 26(8), 587–597. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tcb.2016.02.006
- Ginhoux, F., Greter, M., Leboeuf, M., Nandi, S., See, P., Mehler, M. F., Conway, S. J., Ng, L.

G., Stanley, E. R., Igor, M., & Merad, M. (2013). *NIH Public Access*. *330*(6005), 841–845. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1194637.Fate

- Gofman, L. (2014). P2X4 receptor regulates alcohol-induced responses in microglia. *Neuroimmune Pharmacology*, 23(1), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11481-014-9559-8.P2X4
- Goodwani, S., Saternos, H., Alasmari, F., & Sari, Y. (2017). Metabotropic and ionotropic glutamate receptors as potential targets for the treatment of alcohol use disorder. In *Neuroscience and Biobehavioral Reviews* (Vol. 77). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2017.02.024
- Grobin, A. C., Matthews, D. B., Devaud, L. L., & Morrow, A. L. (1998). The role of GABA(A) receptors in the acute and chronic effects of ethanol. *Psychopharmacology*, *139*(1–2), 2–19. https://doi.org/10.1007/s002130050685
- Haider, B., Duque, A., Hasenstaub, A. R., & McCormick, D. A. (2006). Neocortical network activity in vivo is generated through a dynamic balance of excitation and inhibition. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 26(17), 4535–4545. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5297-05.2006
- Hammer, J. H., Parent, M. C., Spiker, D. A., & World Health Organization. (2018). Global status report on alcohol and health 2018. In *Global status report on alcohol* (Vol. 65, Issue 1). https://doi.org/10.1037/cou0000248
- Hanayama, R., Tanaka, M., Miwa, K., Shinohara, A., Iwamatsu, A., & Nagata, S. (2002). Identification of a factor that links apoptotic cells to phagocytes. *Nature*, 417(6885), 182–187. https://doi.org/10.1038/417182a
- Harris, R. A. (2008). GABAa receptors and alcohol. *Trends Pharmacol Sci*, 23(1), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1038/jid.2014.371
- Haynes, S. E., Hollopeter, G., Yang, G., Kurpius, D., Dailey, M. E., Gan, W. B., & Julius, D. (2006). The P2Y12 receptor regulates microglial activation by extracellular nucleotides. *Nature Neuroscience*, 9(12), 1512–1519. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn1805
- Henriques, J. F., Portugal, C. C., Canedo, T., Relvas, J. B., Summavielle, T., & Socodato, R. (2018). Microglia and alcohol meet at the crossroads: Microglia as critical modulators of alcohol neurotoxicity. *Toxicology Letters*, 283, 21–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.toxlet.2017.11.002
- Herz, J., Filiano, A. J., Smith, A., Yogev, N., & Kipnis, J. (2017). Myeloid cells and their relationship with the central nervous system. *Immunity*, 46(6), 943–956. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2017.06.007.Myeloid
- Hickman, S. (2013). The Microglial Sensome Revealed by Direct RNA Sequencing. *Evidence-Based Practice*, 2(11), 6, insert 2p. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.3554.The
- Hickman, S., Izzy, S., Sen, P., Morsett, L., & El Khoury, J. (2018). Microglia in

neurodegeneration. *Nature Neuroscience*, *21*(10), 1359–1369. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41593-018-0242-x

- Itagaki, S., McGeer, P. L., Akiyama, H., Zhu, S., & Selkoe, D. (1989). Relationship of microglia and astrocytes to amyloid deposits of Alzheimer disease. *Journal of Neuroimmunology*, 24(3), 173–182. https://doi.org/10.1016/0165-5728(89)90115-X
- Kalinin, S., González-Prieto, M., Scheiblich, H., Lisi, L., Kusumo, H., Heneka, M. T., Madrigal, J. L. M., Pandey, S. C., & Feinstein, D. L. (2018). Transcriptome analysis of alcohol-treated microglia reveals downregulation of beta amyloid phagocytosis. *Journal* of Neuroinflammation, 15(1), 7–13. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12974-018-1184-7
- Kane, C. J. M., & Drew, P. D. (2016). Inflammatory responses to alcohol in the CNS: nuclear receptors as potential therapeutics for alcohol-induced neuropathologies. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*, 100(5), 951–959. https://doi.org/10.1189/jlb.3mr0416-171r
- Karabiyik, C., Fernandes, R., Figueiredo, F. R., Socodato, R., Brakebusch, C., Lambertsen, K. L., Relvas, J. B., & Santos, S. D. (2018). Neuronal Rho GTPase Rac1 elimination confers neuroprotection in a mouse model of permanent ischemic stroke. *Brain Pathology*, 28(4), 569–580. https://doi.org/10.1111/bpa.12562
- Kempermann, G., & Neumann, H. (2003). Microglia: The Enemy Within? *Science*, *302*(5651), 1689 LP 1690. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1092864
- Keren-Shaul, H., Spinrad, A., Weiner, A., Matcovitch-Natan, O., Dvir-Szternfeld, R., Ulland, T. K., David, E., Baruch, K., Lara-Astaiso, D., Toth, B., Itzkovitz, S., Colonna, M., Schwartz, M., & Amit, I. (2017). A Unique Microglia Type Associated with Restricting Development of Alzheimer's Disease. *Cell*, *169*(7), 1276-1290.e17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2017.05.018
- Kierdorf, K., Erny, D., Goldmann, T., Sander, V., Schulz, C., Perdiguero, E. G., Wieghofer, P., Heinrich, A., Riemke, P., Hölscher, C., Müller, D. N., Luckow, B., Brocker, T., Debowski, K., Fritz, G., Opdenakker, G., Diefenbach, A., Biber, K., Heikenwalder, M., ... Prinz, M. (2013). Microglia emerge from erythromyeloid precursors via Pu.1-and Irf8-dependent pathways. *Nature Neuroscience*, *16*(3), 273–280. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.3318
- Kierdorf, K., & Prinz, M. (2017). Microglia in steady state. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 127(9), 3201–3209. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI90602
- Kipnis, J., Avidan, H., Caspi, R. R., & Schwartz, M. (2004). Dual effect of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells in neurodegeneration: A dialogue with microglia. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 101(SUPPL. 2), 14663– 14669. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0404842101
- Lacagnina, M. J., Rivera, P. D., & Bilbo, S. D. (2017). Glial and Neuroimmune Mechanisms as Critical Modulators of Drug Use and Abuse. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 42(1), 156–

177. https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2016.121

- Lavin, P., Merad, M., Jung, S., & Amit, I. (2015). Tissue-resident macrophage enhancer landscapes are shaped by the local microenvironment. 159(6), 1312–1326. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2014.11.018.Tissue-Resident
- Li, Z., Qiu, Y., Personett, D., Huang, P., Edenfield, B., Katz, J., Babusis, D., Tang, Y., Shirely, M. A., Moghaddam, M. F., Copland, J. A., & Tun, H. W. (2013).
 Pomalidomide Shows Significant Therapeutic Activity against CNS Lymphoma with a Major Impact on the Tumor Microenvironment in Murine Models. *PLoS ONE*, 8(8), 1– 18. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0071754
- Lippai, D., Bala, S., Csak, T., Kurt-Jones, E. A., & Szabo, G. (2013). Chronic Alcohol-Induced microRNA-155 Contributes to Neuroinflammation in a TLR4-Dependent Manner in Mice. *PLoS ONE*, 8(8), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0070945
- Lippai, D., Bala, S., Petrasek, J., Csak, T., Levin, I., Kurt-Jones, E. A., & Szabo, G. (2013). Alcohol-induced IL-1β in the brain is mediated by NLRP3/ASC inflammasome activation that amplifies neuroinflammation. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*, 94(1), 171– 182. https://doi.org/10.1189/jlb.1212659
- Liu, Y., Yang, X., Guo, C., Nie, P., Liu, Y., & Ma, J. (2013). Essential Role of MFG-E8 for Phagocytic Properties of Microglial Cells. *PLoS ONE*, 8(2). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0055754
- Lovinger, D. M. (2013). Synaptic Effects Induced by Alcohol. Brain Imaging in Behavioral Neuroscience, November 2011, 289–320. https://doi.org/10.1007/7854
- M. Pascual, J. Montesinos, M. Marcos, J.-L. Torres, P. Costa-Alba, F. García-García, F.-J. L., & Guerri, C. (2017). Gender differences in the inflammatory cytokine and chemokine profiles induced by binge ethanol drinking in adolescence. *Addiction Biology*, 7(5), 284–294. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrneurol.2011.42
- Marín-Teva, J. L., Dusart, I., Colin, C., Gervais, A., Van Rooijen, N., & Mallat, M. (2004). Microglia Promote the Death of Developing Purkinje Cells. *Neuron*, 41(4), 535–547. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0896-6273(04)00069-8
- Marshall, S. A., Geil, C. R., & Nixon, K. (2016). Prior binge ethanol exposure potentiates the microglial response in a model of alcohol-induced neurodegeneration. *Brain Sciences*, 6(2). https://doi.org/10.3390/brainsci6020016
- Martynoga, B., Drechsel, D., & Guillemot, F. (2012). Molecular control of neurogenesis: A view from the mammalian cerebral cortex. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology*, 4(10). https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a008359
- Mass, E., Ballesteros, I., Farlik, M., Halbritter, F., Günther, P., Crozet, L., Jacome-galarza, C.
 E., Händler, K., Klughammer, J., Kobayashi, Y., Gomez-perdiguero, E., Schultze, J. L.,
 & Beyer, M. (2016). *HHS Public Access*. 353(6304), 1–32.

https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aaf4238.Specification

- Mazaheri, F., Breus, O., Durdu, S., Haas, P., Wittbrodt, J., Gilmour, D., & Peri, F. (2014).
 Distinct roles for BAI1 and TIM-4 in the engulfment of dying neurons by microglia. *Nature Communications*, 5(May), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms5046
- McGeer, P. L., Itagaki, S., Boyes, B. E., & McGeer, E. G. (1988). Reactive microglia are positive for HLA-DR in the: Substantia nigra of Parkinson's and Alzheimer's disease brains. *Neurology*, 38(8), 1285–1291. https://doi.org/10.1212/wnl.38.8.1285
- Montesinos, J., Alfonso-Loeches, S., & Guerri, C. (2016). Impact of the Innate Immune Response in the Actions of Ethanol on the Central Nervous System. *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research*, 40(11), 2260–2270. https://doi.org/10.1111/acer.13208
- Most, D., Ferguson, L., & Harris, R. A. (2014). Molecular basis of alcoholism. In *Handbook* of *Clinical Neurology* (Vol. 125). https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-444-62619-6.00006-9
- Möykkynen, T., & Korpi, E. R. (2012). Acute Effects of Ethanol on Glutamate Receptors. *Basic and Clinical Pharmacology and Toxicology*, *111*(1), 4–13. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1742-7843.2012.00879.x
- Nadka I. Boyadjieva and Dipak K. Sarkar. (2018). MICROGLIA PLAY A ROLE IN ETHANOL-INDUCED OXIDATIVE STRESS AND APOPTOSIS IN DEVELOPING HYPOTHALAMIC NEURONS. *Toxicology*, *15*(1), 277–280. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tox.2013.03.001
- Nimmerjahn, A., Kirchhoff, F., & Helmchen, F. (2005). Neuroscience: Resting microglial cells are highly dynamic surveillants of brain parenchyma in vivo. *Science*, *308*(5726), 1314–1318. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1110647
- Olsen, R. W., & Liang, J. (2017). Role of GABAA receptors in alcohol use disorders suggested by chronic intermittent ethanol (CIE) rodent model Tim Bliss. *Molecular Brain*, 10(1), 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13041-017-0325-8
- Olson, J. K., & Miller, S. D. (2004). Microglia Initiate Central Nervous System Innate and Adaptive Immune Responses through Multiple TLRs. *The Journal of Immunology*, *173*(6), 3916–3924. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.173.6.3916
- Orihuela, R., McPherson, C. A., & Harry, G. J. (2016). Microglial M1/M2 polarization and metabolic states. *British Journal of Pharmacology*, *173*(4), 649–665. https://doi.org/10.1111/bph.13139
- Paolicelli, R. C., Bolasco, G., Pagani, F., Maggi, L., Scianni, M., Panzanelli, P., Giustetto, M., Ferreira, T. A., Guiducci, E., Dumas, L., Ragozzino, D., & Gross, C. T. (2011). Synaptic pruning by microglia is necessary for normal brain development. *Science*, 333(6048), 1456–1458. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1202529

Parkhurst, C. N., Yang, G., Ninan, I., Savas, J. N., Iii, J. R. Y., Lafaille, J. J., Hempstead, B.

L., Littman, D. R., & Gan, W. (2013). *Microglia promote learning-dependent synapse formation through brain-derived neurotrophic factor*. *155*(7), 1596–1609. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2013.11.030.Microglia

- Perdiguero, E. G., Klapproth, K., Schulz, C., Busch, K., Azzoni, E., Crozet, L., Garner, H., Trouillet, C., De Bruijn, M., Geissmann, F., & Rodewald, H.-R. (2015). Tissue-resident macrophages originate from yolk sac-derived erythro-myeloid progenitors. *Experimental Hematology*, 43(9), S64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.exphem.2015.06.130
- Pickering, M., Cumiskey, D., O'Connor, J. J., Takeuchi, H., Jin, S., Suzuki, H., Doi, Y., Liang, J., Kawanokuchi, J., Mizuno, T., Sawada, M., & Suzumura, A. (2008). Blockade of microglial glutamate release protects against ischemic brain injury. *Experimental Neurology*, 214(1), 144–146. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.expneurol.2008.08.001
- Qin, L., & Crews, F. T. (2012). NADPH oxidase and reactive oxygen species contribute to alcohol-induced microglial activation and neurodegeneration. *Journal of Neuroinflammation*, 9(1), 5. https://doi.org/10.1186/1742-2094-9-5
- Ransohoff, R. M. (2016). A polarizing question: Do M1 and M2 microglia exist. *Nature Neuroscience*, *19*(8), 987–991. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.4338
- Sapp, E., Kegel, K. B., Aronin, N., Hashikawa, T., Uchiyama, Y., Tohyama, K., Bhide, P. G., Vonsattel, J. P., & Difiglia, M. (2001). Early and progressive accumulation of reactive microglia in the Huntington disease brain. *Journal of Neuropathology and Experimental Neurology*, 60(2), 161–172. https://doi.org/10.1093/jnen/60.2.161
- Schomerus, G., Lucht, M., Holzinger, A., Matschinger, H., Carta, M. G., & Angermeyer, M. C. (2011). The stigma of alcohol dependence compared with other mental disorders: A review of population studies. *Alcohol and Alcoholism*, 46(2), 105–112. https://doi.org/10.1093/alcalc/agq089
- Schwab, J. M., & Schluesener, H. J. (2004). Microglia rules: Insights into micoglial-neuronal signaling. *Cell Death and Differentiation*, 11(12), 1245–1246. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.cdd.4401487
- Shigemoto-Mogami, Y., Hoshikawa, K., & Sato, K. (2018). Activated microglia disrupt the blood-brain barrier and induce chemokines and cytokines in a rat in vitro model. *Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience*, 12(December), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fncel.2018.00494
- Sochocka, M., Diniz, B. S., & Leszek, J. (2017). Inflammatory Response in the CNS: Friend or Foe? *Molecular Neurobiology*, 54(10), 8071–8089. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12035-016-0297-1
- Socodato, R. (2017). *Microglia dysfunction caused by the loss of Rhoa disrupts neuronal physiology and leads to neurodegeneration.*

- Song, W. M., & Colonna, M. (2018). The identity and function of microglia in neurodegeneration. *Nature Immunology*, 19(10), 1048–1058. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41590-018-0212-1
- Squarzoni, P., Oller, G., Hoeffel, G., Pont-Lezica, L., Rostaing, P., Low, D., Bessis, A., Ginhoux, F., & Garel, S. (2014). Microglia Modulate Wiring of the Embryonic Forebrain. *Cell Reports*, 8(5), 1271–1279. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2014.07.042
- Stence, N., Waite, M., & Dailey, M. E. (2001). Dynamics of microglial activation: A confocal time-lapse analysis in hippocampal slices. *Glia*, 33(3), 256–266. https://doi.org/10.1002/1098-1136(200103)33:3<256::AID-GLIA1024>3.0.CO;2-J
- Stephan, A. H., Barres, B. A., & Stevens, B. (2012). The complement system: An unexpected role in synaptic pruning during development and disease. *Annual Review of Neuroscience*, 35, 369–389. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-neuro-061010-113810
- Suraweera, D. B. (2015). Alcoholic hepatitis: The pivotal role of Kupffer cells. *World Journal* of Gastrointestinal Pathophysiology, 6(4), 90. https://doi.org/10.4291/wjgp.v6.i4.90
- Takahashi, K., Rochford, C. D. P., & Neumann, H. (2005). Clearance of apoptotic neurons without inflammation by microglial triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells-2. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 201(4), 647–657. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20041611
- Takeuchi, H., Jin, S., Wang, J., Zhang, G., Kawanokuchi, J., Kuno, R., Sonobe, Y., Mizuno, T., & Suzumura, A. (2006). Tumor necrosis factor-α induces neurotoxicity via glutamate release from hemichannels of activated microglia in an autocrine manner. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 281(30), 21362–21368. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M600504200
- Takeuchi, H., & Suzumura, A. (2014). Gap junctions and hemichannels composed of connexins: Potential therapeutic targets for neurodegenerative diseases. *Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience*, 8(SEP), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fncel.2014.00189
- Takeuchi, O., Sato, S., Horiuchi, T., Hoshino, K., Takeda, K., Dong, Z., Modlin, R. L., & Akira, S. (2002). Cutting Edge: Role of Toll-Like Receptor 1 in Mediating Immune Response to Microbial Lipoproteins. *The Journal of Immunology*, *169*(1), 10–14. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.169.1.10
- Tatti, R., Haley, M. S., Swanson, O. K., Tselha, T., & Maffei, A. (2017). Neurophysiology and Regulation of the Balance Between Excitation and Inhibition in Neocortical Circuits. In *Biological Psychiatry* (Vol. 81, Issue 10, pp. 821–831). Elsevier USA. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2016.09.017
- Tiwari, V., Veeraiah, P., Subramaniam, V., & Patel, A. B. (2014). Differential effects of ethanol on regional glutamatergic and GABAergic neurotransmitter pathways in mouse brain. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 128(5), 628–640. https://doi.org/10.1111/jnc.12508

- Torres-Platas, S. G., Comeau, S., Rachalski, A., Bo, G. D., Cruceanu, C., Turecki, G., Giros, B., & Mechawar, N. (2014). Morphometric characterization of microglial phenotypes in human cerebral cortex. *Journal of Neuroinflammation*, *11*(1), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1186/1742-2094-11-12
- Ueno, M., Fujita, Y., Tanaka, T., Nakamura, Y., Kikuta, J., Ishii, M., & Yamashita, T. (2013). Layer v cortical neurons require microglial support for survival during postnatal development. *Nature Neuroscience*, 16(5), 543–551. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.3358
- Uhlemann, R., Gertz, K., Boehmerle, W., Schwarz, T., Nolte, C., Freyer, D., Kettenmann, H., Endres, M., & Kronenberg, G. (2016). Actin dynamics shape microglia effector functions. *Brain Structure and Function*, 221(5), 2717–2734. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00429-015-1067-y
- Varin, A., & Gordon, S. (2009). Alternative activation of macrophages: Immune function and cellular biology. *Immunobiology*, 214(7), 630–641. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.imbio.2008.11.009
- Veerhuis, R., Nielsen, H. M., & Tenner, A. J. (2011). Complement in the brain. *Molecular Immunology*, 48(14), 1592–1603. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molimm.2011.04.003
- Vilalta, A., & Brown, G. C. (2018). Neurophagy, the phagocytosis of live neurons and synapses by glia, contributes to brain development and disease. *FEBS Journal*, 285(19), 3566–3575. https://doi.org/10.1111/febs.14323
- Villa, A., Gelosa, P., Castiglioni, L., Cimino, M., Rizzi, N., Pepe, G., Lolli, F., Marcello, E., Sironi, L., Vegeto, E., & Maggi, A. (2018). Sex-Specific Features of Microglia from Adult Mice. *Cell Reports*, 23(12), 3501–3511. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2018.05.048
- Wang, Y., Cella, M., Mallinson, K., Ulrich, J. D., Katherine, L., Robinette, M. L., Gifillian, S., Krishnan, G. M., Zinselmeyer, B. H., Holtzman, D. M., & Cirrito, J. R. (2015). *TREM2 lipid sensing sustains the microglial response in an Alzheimer's disease model*. 160(6), 1061–1071. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2015.01.049.TREM2
- Weinhard, L., Di Bartolomei, G., Bolasco, G., Machado, P., Schieber, N. L., Neniskyte, U., Exiga, M., Vadisiute, A., Raggioli, A., Schertel, A., Schwab, Y., & Gross, C. T. (2018).
 Microglia remodel synapses by presynaptic trogocytosis and spine head filopodia induction. *Nature Communications*, 9(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-03566-5
- Zhang, J., Malik, A., Choi, H. B., Ko, R. W. Y., Dissing-Olesen, L., & MacVicar, B. A. (2014). Microglial CR3 activation triggers long-term synaptic depression in the hippocampus via NADPH oxidase. *Neuron*, 82(1), 195–207. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2014.01.043

FACULDADE DE MEDICINA